1942

In The Matter of the Estate of John H. Gordon : Brief of Appellants

Utah Supreme Court

STATEMENT OF FACTS

On the 14th day of September, 1938, John H. Gordon executed his last Will and Testament. Copy of said will is as follows:

“LAST WILL AND TESTAMENT

OF

JOHN H. GORDON

KNOW ALL MEN BY THESE PRESENTS:

That I, John H. Gordon, of 253 West Sixth South Street, Provo City, Utah, of the age of nearly eighty-three years, and being of sound and disposing mind and memory, and not acting under duress, menace, fraud, or any undue influence whatsoever, do hereby make, publish and declare this my Last Will and Testament, as follows, to-wit:

FIRST: I direct that my body be properly buried.

SECOND: I direct that my executor hereinafter named, as soon as he has sufficient funds in his hands, pay the expenses of my last illness, death and burial, and also all my lawful and just debts and obligations.

THIRD: I give and devise to my daughter, Mrs. Maud Olson, of Orem, Utah County, Utah, her grandmother's picture, and also the sum of One Dollar.

FOURTH: I give and devise to each of my children, namely, Lewis W. Gordon, John H. Gordon, Jr., Robert Gordon and Vera Williams the sum of One Dollar.

FIFTH: I give and devise to each of my grandchildren, who are children of my deceased daughter, Alfretta Wilkins, namely: Don Wilkins, Delbert Wilkins, Arnold Wilkins, Norma Wilkins and Leora Wilkins, the sum of One Dollar.

SIXTH: All the rest, residue and remainder of all my property of any and every kind whatsoever, I give, devise and bequeath to my wife, Julia Ann Gordon, for and during her natural life, together with the use and income therefrom to be used for her support and maintenance for and during her natural life.

The bequest to my said wife as in this paragraph mentioned shall be in lieu and instead of her one-third interest in my real estate to which she is otherwise entitled; and shall not be in addition to said one-third interest in my property.

SEVENTH: I direct that my executor, before final distribution of my property, and at any time

when he shall have sufficient funds on hand, pay the amount to Provo City necessary to provide for the perpetual maintenance and upkeep of my lot in Provo City Cemetery.

EIGHTH: All the rest, residue and remainder of my property, after the death of my said wife, Julia Ann Gordon, I direct shall be sold and the proceeds turned into cash, and such proceeds of the sale of said property I give, devise and bequeath in equal shares, share and share alike to my children namely: Curtis Gordon, Leon Gordon, Hannah Baum, and Minnie Nowell, each the one-fourth thereof.

NINTH: I hereby nominate and appoint my said son, Curtis Gordon, to be the executor of this my Last Will and Testament, and I direct that he may act without giving bonds.

TENTH: I hereby revoke and cancel any and all former wills or testaments by me heretofore made or executed.

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, I have hereunto set my hand at Provo City, Utah County, State of Utah, this Fourteenth Day of September, A. D., 1938.

JOHN H. GORDON (SEAL)

The foregoing instrument, consisting of one page besides this page was by the testator, John H. Gordon, signed, published, and declared to be his last Will and Testament, and was by him signed in the presence of us and each of us, who then and there, at his request and in his presence and in the

presence of each other signed our names as witnesses thereto.

ARNOLD MECHAM

Residing at 555 N 4 East St., Provo, Utah.

A. L. BOOTH

Residing at 131 W 5 North, Provo, Utah.

John H. Gordon died at Provo, Utah, on the 13th day of October, 1938. Thereafter, Curtis Gordon, the Executor filed said Will for probate. Notice was given to all the heirs and devisees, and after hearing by the Court, said Will was admitted to probate, and Letters Testamentary were issued to Curtis Gordon on the 3rd day of December, 1938, and he began the administration of said estate. Thereafter, on the 23rd day of December, 1938, Julia Gordon, widow of said deceased filed the following, "Acceptance by Widow of Provisions of Will".

IN THE DISTRICT COURT OF THE FOURTH
JUDICIAL DISTRICT OF THE STATE OF
UTAH, SITTING AT UTAH COUNTY

6891

In the Matter of the Estate
of John H. Gordon, deceased.

ACCEPTANCE BY
WIDOW OF
PROVISIONS OF
WILL

Comes now Julia Ann Gordon, the widow of John H. Gordon, deceased, and hereby submits her acceptance of the provisions of the Last Will and Testament of John H. Gordon, deceased, and by such acceptance hereby

relinquishes her right to take anything further out of the property of said estate except a life interest in said property, with the rents, issues and profits therefrom for and during her natural life, as in said will specified.

Dated at Provo City, Utah County, Utah, this 23rd day of December, A. D. 1938.

Her
Julia X Ann Gordon
Mark
Widow of John H. Gordon, *deceased*.

WITNESS:

MINNIE GORDON

State of Utah
County of Utah } ss.

On this 23rd day of September, A. D., 1938, personally appeared before me, Julia Ann Gordon, the signer of the above instrument, who duly acknowledged to me that she has heard read the said instrument, and that she signed the same freely and voluntarily and for the uses and purposes therein mentioned.

ALFRED L. BOOTH
Notary Public
Residing at Provo City, Utah.

(SEAL)

My commission expires April 20, 1939

That on the 15th day of August, 1939, Maud Olsen, John Gordon Jr., and Julia Gordon, three of the legatees and devisees of said Will filed a petition praying that Letters Testamentary heretofore issued to the said Curtis Gordon be revoked, on the ground that the said

John H. Gordon at the time of the execution of said Will was not mentally competent to make said Will. The allegations of the said petition were denied by Curtis Gordon and other devisees under the Will, and on this issue the case was tried by a jury before Judge Dallas H. Young on the 13th day of May, 1940. The jury found that John H. Gordon was not of sound and disposing mind and memory and was incompetent to make a Will on the 14th day of September, 1938. Judgment was entered on the verdict on the 16th day of May, 1940, wherein it was ordered, adjudged, and decreed that the said John H. Gordon was not competent to make a Will at the time he executed the same; that said Will was not his valid act, and the Letters Testamentary heretofore issued to Curtis Gordon be revoked.

At the conclusion of plaintiffs' testimony, defendants moved the Court to grant a non-suit on the ground that there was not sufficient evidence or no evidence to submit to the jury and from which the jury could find that the testator at the time he made said Will was not competent to make the same. This motion was denied.

After the verdict of the jury, motion was made by the defendants that the Court disregard the verdict of the jury on the following grounds: (Record Page 67.)

1. That said verdict is contrary to the evidence, and the preponderance of the evidence did not support said verdict. That the preponderance of the evidence established the fact that the said John H. Gordon was of sound mind when he made said Will.

2. That the jury entirely disregarded the instruc-

tions of the Court in arriving at its verdict in said cause, and said verdict was rendered under a misapprehension of such instructions, and under the influence of passion, prejudice or sympathy.

Notice of intention to move for a new trial was duly filed wherein it was moved that the Court vacate and set aside the verdict rendered in said cause, and that a new trial be granted. Statutory grounds for a new trial were set forth therein. This motion was argued primarily on the insufficiency of the evidence to justify the verdict and that said verdict was against law. (Record 64-65). The Court refused to disregard the verdict of the jury and denied the motion for a new trial, (Record 77-78) and an Order denying motion for a new trial was served and filed October 21, 1940. (Record 79.)

From the ruling of the Court and the denying of said motions, an appeal has been made to this Court upon the following Assignment of Errors:

1. That the Court erred in denying defendants and appellants' motion for a non-suit made after plaintiffs had rested, as shown on Page 131 of the Transcript and Page 240 of the Bill of Exceptions or Record on Appeal.

2. That the Court erred in denying defendants and appellants' motion to disregard and set aside the verdict of the jury, as shown on Page 67 of the Bill of Exceptions or Record on Appeal.

3. That the Court erred in overruling the motion of appellants to vacate and set aside the verdict, and to grant a new trial, as shown on Pages 64 and 65 of the Bill of Exceptions or Record on Appeal.

ARGUMENT ON MOTION FOR NON-SUIT

It is the contention of the appellants that when the respondents rested their case there was not sufficient evidence to warrant the submission of said case to the jury. There is no evidence whatsoever that Mr. Gordon was not of sound and disposing mind and memory at the time he executed his Will. It is true that Maud Olsen, his daughter, testified that her father did not know her at times (Trans. 15) and that he was laboring at times under certain hallucinations regarding a trip to Salt Lake (Trans. 17-18), and about his automobile (Trans. 19). From the above testimony, Mrs. Olsen was permitted to say that her father at no time during the month of September was of sound mind. In connection with Mrs. Olsen's testimony, we desire to draw the Court's attention to the fact that sometime about the first of September she and her brother, Curtis Gordon, had a conversation with the testator regarding making a Will. On direct testimony she stated: "Well, he asked Daddy how he would like things fixed up." "Well," he says, "I want all of them to have equal shares." And he says, "I am not going to slight any of them." (Trans. 20). On cross-examination, speaking of the Will, she stated as follows: "Well, I thought I would ask him—I asked him how he wanted it made, and he said he wanted all the children to have equal shares. He said he didn't want to have no trouble after he was gone. Curtis came in and asked him how he wanted it fixed." (Trans. 26.).

At this time Mrs. Olsen must have thought that her father was competent to make a Will. If not, why did

she talk to him about it? Certainly, this conversation and what was said by Mr. Gordon definitely shows that he knew what they were talking about, and that he was not incompetent at that time despite the testimony of the contestants that he did not know anybody and that he was incompetent over a long period of time to make a Will. In this connection, may it be stated that no one at any time prior to the filing of the protest had contended that Mr. Gordon was not competent to make a Will. Even at the time the Will was being made, Mrs. Gordon, wife of the testator, was present and a number of the children and other people were about the place and no protest or statement was made that Mr. Gordon was not competent to make a Will. It is the contention of the appellants that the testimony of Mrs. Olsen is clearly insufficient to justify the finding or the conclusion that her father was incompetent to make a Will on the day and at the time it was made. She did not see her father that day, at least not until night, and she says nothing about his condition then.

Now, let us consider the testimony of Eva King. She is the daughter of Julia Gordon, one of the contestants. She testified that Mr. Gordon did not know anybody after the 15th or 16th of August. (Trans. 48). She also testified as to Mr. Gordon having hallucinations. (Trans. 44, 45, 46). She testified on cross-examination that Mr. Gordon would ask them to call Curtis and that she was there when he came on the 14th of September, and that Mr. Gordon talked to him about something. (Trans. 50 and 55). She was the only witness that testified that there was anything wrong with

Mr. Gordon prior to the accident, and it seems from her testimony that Mr. Gordon was sick and probably incompetent two or three years before the automobile accident. (Trans. 58). Again, under Mrs. King's testimony the only evidence from which it could be deducted that Mr. Gordon was not of sound mind when he made his Will was the fact that he had hallucinations and did not know people at times.

Ned Olsen, son of Maud Olsen, one of the contestants, testified that sometime in August until the death of Mr. Gordon, Mr. Gordon did not know him at any time (Trans. 62,) and that in his judgment Mr. Gordon was not himself after the accident which happened in the summer or fall of 1937 (Trans. 70; 134) and that he was not of sound mind from sometime in August until his death. These conclusions of the witness are not supported by any substantial evidence.

Thelma Carter was called as a witness. She is a daughter of Julia Gordon, one of the contestants, and testified to certain hallucinations and made the conclusion that Mr. Gordon was not of sound mind (Trans. 73-74). On cross-examination she admitted that about the 1st of September or at least when she was picking grapes, Mr. Gordon, the testator, came out where the grapes were and they transacted certain business about the grapes, and that Mr. Gordon gave one of them fifty cents to buy sugar. Testimony is as follows: "No. This other lady asked Mrs. Gordon about the fifty cents. And she told Mr. Gordon about it." "Well," he said, "If she wants the fifty cents, give her what she wants." "Now that is what he said." (Trans. 78). This conversation

and transaction of business, according to this witness, took place on the 5th of September, (Trans. 79). Curtis Gordon testified that it took place about September 25-27. (Trans. 141-2).

Ilas Carter, son of Julia Gordon, contestant, was called and testified about certain things that happened in March, 1938, and to other things that happened in the fall of the year 1938. Again we have the reference made to certain hallucinations, but none of which are in any wise connected with the condition of Mr. Gordon at the time he made his Will, or to show that said hallucinations in any wise affected him in making his Will. Did not think that Mr. Gordon was alright any time after the automobile accident, yet he admitted that he drove his own car, did his own business and visited with his children. (Trans. 94.)

Nettie Carter was called as a witness. (Trans. 97-98). No relation to John H. Gordon, testator, or Julia Gordon, his wife, but a friend of Mrs. Gordon. The evidence given by Mrs. Carter certainly could not be the basis of finding that Mr. Gordon was not competent to make a Will on the 14th day of September, 1938, and has no probative value of any kind to establish his incompetency on said date.

Jack Gordon, son of the testator, one of the protestants, was called as a witness. He also spoke of some hallucinations (Trans. 109), but in no wise are these hallucinations connected up with or claim to have any influence upon Mr. Gordon in making the Will in question. Testified on cross-examination that he knew the will was being prepared and admitted that he made no

statement or remark of any kind to anybody that his father was not competent to make a Will (Trans. 112 and 113.) He further testified that he went into the house immediately after Mr. Booth left and that his father did not know him. (Trans. 111).

Robert R. Shoemaker, a neighbor and unrelated to any of the parties was called as a witness. Stated that about two weeks prior to his death, testator, did not know him, (Trans. 129), and without relating any incident or conversation with the testator he concludes that the testator was not of sound mind. (Trans. 130). Testimony of Mr. Shoemaker has very little value as to the condition of the testator's mind on the 14th day of September, 1938, when the Will was made.

There seems to be only two reasons or grounds from which, under the testimony of the above contestants' witnesses, it could be assumed or inferred that Mr. Gordon was incompetent at the time he made his Will. (1) That at intervals he did not know people when they came to his home, and (2) he had hallucinations or delusions at times. Assuming for the sake of argument that he did have these hallucinations or delusions, and did not recognize people at times, there is not one scintilla of evidence to show that when he made his Will, the testator was influenced by such hallucinations or delusions, or that any hallucination or delusion had any effect of any kind or nature whatsoever upon the testator in making his Will.

We think it is the law that unless a hallucination or delusion operates as a cause influencing the Will or causes its execution, that such evidence will not establish

the incompetency of the testator, and the will will not be voided by such evidence.

The law regarding this matter is well established in the following cases and texts:

Kendrick's Estate, (Cal.) 62 P. 605.

Redfield's Estate (Cal.) 48 P. 794.

Purcell's Estate, 128 P. 932

Cole's Estate, 226 P. 143

Gunther's Estate, 248 P. 514

It is true in this case that the testator was eighty-three years of age and had been ill to some extent prior to the making of the Will. The particular nature of his ailment is not disclosed, but it seems that he suffered a lot with his legs and that he took some pills to relieve him of his pain. It does not matter how old a testator may be or how he may be afflicted physically if he had sufficient mental capacity to be able to understand in a general way the nature and situation of his property and his relation to the persons around him and those who naturally have some claim on his bounty, he will be considered to be of sound and disposing mind and memory and his Will will be held valid. 68 C. J. 455 Sec. 58.

When a will is contested on the ground that the testator was incompetent to make the will, the case will not be submitted to the jury unless there is substantial evidence to establish the fact that the testator at the time said will was made or executed was of unsound mind.

True, evidence may be given as to his mental condition prior to and after the execution of the will, but

such evidence can only be used to corroborate the proof that the testator was incompetent at the time he signed or extended the will.

In this case petition to probate the will had been filed. Hearing had and testimony of Mr. A. L. Booth given that at the time the will was made Mr. Gordon was of sound and disposing mind and memory and such testimony was in writing and signed by the witness. (Record Page 5) The Judge filed his certificate of facts found and letters testamentary were issued. This record was a part of the files in this case and was before the court at time motion of non-suit was made. The law presumes that if a will is in proper form and properly executed and attested, that the testator had testamentary capacity to make the will. In *Re-Nolan's Estate* (Cal.) 78 Pac. (2-d) 456; also *Dean vs. Jordan*, (Wash.) 79 Pac. (2-d) 331. 68 C. J. 444 Sec. 43.

Here is such a Will—It names all of testator's heirs and disposes of all his property. In addition there was before the court the written testimony of Mr. Booth, one of the subscribing witnesses, that Mr. Gordon was of sound and disposing mind and memory at the time he made the will.

Appellants contend that in the light of this presumption and the above record that the contestants did not prove by substantial evidence that Mr. Gordon was not of sound mind at the time he executed the will in question. They did not discharge the burden imposed upon them and therefore the motion should have been granted.

VERDICT SHOULD HAVE BEEN SET ASIDE AND NEW TRIAL GRANTED

Appellants maintain that the verdict of the jury is not supported by substantial evidence and that the preponderance of the evidence is against the verdict. In the face of the positive and uncontradicted evidence as to Mr. Gordon's mental condition and of his knowledge and understanding of his property and the natural objects of his bounty at the time he made his Will, the jury must have arrived at its verdict under a misapprehension or misinterpretation of the instructions of the Court and for grounds or reasons other than those contained in the instructions, or must have arrived at its verdict because of sympathy or because they thought injustice had been done to some of the heirs or that someone influenced Gordon to make the Will as he did.

Jurors are often inclined to disregard the evidence and to set aside the Will upon some excuse found outside of the evidence because the dispositions made by the testator do not conform with their personal notions of what is just and proper.

It is incumbent upon the Court not to permit a Will to be set aside except upon substantial evidence tending to show that it is not in fact the Will of the testator.

28 R. C. L. 406 Sec. 418.

Hansen's Will (Utah) 167 P. 256 at Page 260.

It is the law in Will contest cases, and the jury was repeatedly so instructed, that in order for the Will to be set aside the preponderance of the evidence must establish the fact that the testator at the time said Will was executed was of unsound mind. It was the burden

of the contestants to prove by a preponderance of the evidence the incompetency of the testator at the time said Will was made.

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