1941

In The Matter of the Estate of John H. Gordon : Brief of Respondents

Utah Supreme Court

QUESTION FOR DETERMINATION

The appellants raise only one question on this appeal—whether the evidence is sufficient to support the verdict. They took no exception to the instructions of the court. Indeed, the instructions were most favorable to them. They claim or assign no erroneous admission or exclusion of evidence.

Appellants contend that the court erred in denying their motion for non-suit, their motion to set aside the verdict and their motion for a new trial, on the single ground of insufficiency of the evidence. (P. 11 of Appellants' Brief)

RULE AS TO SUFFICIENCY IN WILL CONTEST

It is established beyond controversy in this jurisdiction that a will contest is a law case and the jury's verdict must be upheld if it is supported by substantial evidence. In re Goldman's Estate, 260 Pac. 586; in re Miller's Estate, 31 Utah 415, 88 Pac. 338; in re Swan's Estate, 51 Utah 410, 170 Pac. 452; in re Jones estate, 59 Utah 99, 202 Pac. 206.

As is said in re Miller's Estate, Supra:

"A suit to revoke probate of a will is an action at law in which a jury may be demanded by either party as of course and as a matter of right . . . The Supreme Court in such an action at law cannot treat as found that which might have been found, or weigh or pass on conflicting evidence, or pass on the credibility of witnesses, for such matters are in the province of the trial court without a jury and within the province of the jury when tried before a jury."

It, therefore, becomes necessary only to determine herein whether there is evidence in the record from which the jury was authorized to find that John H. Gordon was not of sound mind at the time he signed the claimed will.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

Appellants' "Statement of Facts" (pp. 5 to 9 of their brief) fairly reflects the course of the proceedings, but contains no statement of facts on the issue of sanity. Appellants reserve for their argument a statement of what they claim the evidence shows, but their references to the testimony are confusing and fragmentary. They serve merely to indicate a conflict. The preponderant facts and circumstances supporting the verdict of the jury are either lightly passed over or ignored.

Contestants Case in Chief

For a more representative picture of the evidence supporting the verdict of the jury we shall attempt to summarize the determinative testimony which we believe will show without the necessity of lengthy argument that not only is the jury's verdict amply supported, but very close to the only reasonable result that could have been reached.

Maud Olsen

She is one of the contestants, a widowed daughter of the deceased (Tr. 6). John H. Gordon was 83 years of age at the time of his death. (Tr. 5) His first wife, (mother of the parties herein) died about thirty-five years ago, and

he married Julia Gordon, his surviving widow, about 10 years later. (Tr. 6). Besides his second wife, John H. Gordon left surviving him nine children (three being contestants and respondents herein and four being proponents and appellants) and the children of one deceased child. (Tr. 6-7)

About a year before his death John H. Gordon was in an automobile accident (Tr. 8) and injured his head. (Tr. 9)

About August 15, 1938 (the will bears date September 14, 1938) John H. Gordon became ill. (Tr. 10-11) Prior to that time the witness visited him every Saturday. Thereafter and until his death she was with him every night to sit up with him (Tr. 10-12)

In the latter part of August, 1938, John H. Gordon did not know the witness, his own daughter, although she sat up with him every night, and he never knew her any more after that. (Tr. 15-16)

About the first of September he thought he had just been to Salt Lake with three fellows and had dinner with them, when he had not been. (Tr. 17 - 18).

Shortly after this incident he wanted the witness to go out and see if his car was in the garage. He claimed three fellows had borrowed it three weeks before and hadn't returned it. There had been no one borrow it and the car had been in the garage all the time. (Tr. 19)

In a lengthy cross-examination, Mrs. Olsen's testimony was unshaken that at no time after August 20, 1938

did her father know her notwithstanding she was with him every night. (Tr. 21) She was not present the day the will was made, but was with him that night. (Tr. 22-23) Mrs. Olsen for 10 years had taken butter and eggs to her father every Saturday and he had paid her the market price for them. When he took sick she continued to bring butter and eggs to his home, but he never paid her after that, and he didn't know who she was. (Tr. 29) After the second week of his illness he didn't know anybody that called. (Tr. 33)

Mrs. Olsen further testified that the picture mentioned in the will as going to her had been given to her two or three years before. (Tr. 37)

Eva King

Mrs. King is the daughter of Julia Gordon by a former marriage. (Tr. 41) She lived just over the block from Mr. Gordon. Her mother had been married to him for 25 years and she lived with them during her earlier years and has frequently been with them since. (Tr. 42)

From the time Mr. Gordon took sick in August until September 14, the date of the will, she saw him practically every day. (Tr. 42) Prior to September 14 she had noticed that he was failing. (Tr. 43)

About the middle of September, 1938, he asked her why she didn't shut the water off.

"I asked him why, what water". And he said, 'Well, they was trying to drown him; they was trying to run the water through the house'. And I said, 'There is no water

here, grandpa'. He said, 'I can't see why my knees and legs are so wet then if there wasn't any water'." (Tr. 43)

He told about the water a good many times to others. (Tr. 43)

From the time of these occasions up until the time of his death the condition of his mind never changed. In the judgment of the witness at no time during the month of September (the month the will was signed) was John H. Gordon of sound mind, and his condition continued up to the time of his death. (Tr. 21)

About the 10th of September the witness called and Mr. Gordon did not know who she was. When Mrs. Gordon told him who she was he said he wanted her boy. When the boy was sent for he didn't know him, but when assured that it was he, Gordon told him to go down to Sanpete County and drive his cattle home. He said a lot of the cattle had already died and the rest were poor. He said they would feed them and he would split the difference with the boy. The witness had never before heard of him having cattle in Sanpete (Tr. 44-45) (and there is no mention or claim of cattle in the inventory and other probate proceedings).

On August 16, 1938, Mrs. King called at Mr. Gordon's home and found him under the table. He said, "If I ever catch those brats I will kill them". There was no one else in the house. Mrs. King got him out from under the table and put him to bed. (Tr. 46)

In September when Mrs. King talked to him about

drinking eggs and milk for his strength, he said he was waiting for "Mrs. Jensen" to bring some eggs. When he was told Maud would bring them, he asked who Maud was, and denied he had a daughter Maud.

From her observation of him Mrs. King testified Mr. Gordon was not of sound mind on or about September 14, 1938, and that "he never had a good conversation after the 16th of August". (Tr. 47)

On cross-examination Mrs. King testified that after the 16th of August he didn't know the people who came to his house all the time, at times he maybe would know some but some he didn't know at all. After the 16th he didn't very often know Mrs. King. At times he didn't know his wife. (Tr. 48) On cross-examination it was also brought out from Mrs. King that Dr. Westwood advised not to leave her mother alone with Mr. Gordon because he was not safe. (Tr. 56-57) She further testified Mr. Gordon was not just right ever since the accident more than a year before his death. (Tr. 59-60)

Ned Olsen

This witness is the grandson of the deceased, son of Maud Olsen. He had known Mr. Gordon ever since he could remember, and used to work for him on his farm and took care of his car. (Tr. 61)

The first time he called after his grandfather became ill, he put his arm around Mr. Gordon as he usually did and asked him how he was. Mr. Gordon mumbled something and someone else says "That is Ned." Mr. Gordon said

"Ned? No, I don't know Ned." (Tr. 62)

From that time to the time of Mr. Gordon's death he saw him almost every day, but Mr. Gordon did not know him. (Tr. 62)

In the judgment of the witness from the time he first saw him in August when he was ill to the time of his death he was not of sound mind. Not once when he saw him was his mind clear. (Tr. 63)

Mr. Gordon talked about his "red headed girl" in Springville, and about going and getting her. (Tr. 69)

The cross-examination of the witness concluded as follows:

Q. You think at any time he became sick, after the 15th of August, that he knew his children?

A. No.

Q. And he didn't know his property?

A. No.

Q. And he didn't know you after the 15th of August?

A. No, sir. (Tr. 70-71)

Thelma Carter

She is the daughter-in-law of Julia Gordon. She had known the deceased about 18 years. About the first of September, Mrs. Carter went in the house and was asked by Mr. Gordon to get a doctor for "that man there; they are tearing the flesh all off him". (Tr. 72-73)

Later he complained about the toughness of "his steak", when all he was eating was mush and eggs. His mind wandered terribly. (Tr. 73)

From the first of September until his death in the judgment of the witness he was not of sound mind. (Tr. 74)
 Ilas Carter

Son of Julia Gordon. Had known John H. Gordon about 27 years. In the Spring of 1938 John H. Gordon was ill. (Tr. 84-85)

In the Fall of 1938, the witness had a conversation with Mr. Gordon who said he had some property "up on the hill" he wanted his son Jack to have. (Tr. 87) This was about three weeks before his death. (Tr. 88)

Within a few months prior to his death the witness met Mr. and Mrs. Gordon near their home. Mr. Gordon told the witness they "were going to their other home". He pointed to the railroad station. When he was told that was the railroad station, he then said it was "next to the Gibby home". Finally, after designating his chicken coop, the witness took him by the arm and led him into his own home. (Tr. 89) The witness didn't think he was of sound mind while he was sick. (Tr. 90)

When Mr. Gordon was out looking for his other home, Mrs. Gordon was trying to keep him back. (Tr. 93)
 Nettie Carter

No relation to the deceased or to the Carter who previously testified. She had known John Gordon for 25 years or more, and had visited a good many times. (Tr. 96)

In the latter part of August she heard he was sick. He seemed to know her when she first went there, but didn't seem to be right at that time. (Tr. 97) When she called

back within a night or so, she could see he wasn't the same as he was before. Sometimes he knew her and sometimes he took her for someone else.

During all the times after her first visit he wasn't in his right mind. "Anybody that has anything to do with old people or takes care of them can tell when an old person is right and when they are wrong." (Tr. 98)

John Gordon (Jr.)

Son of the deceased. (Tr. 105)

From two weeks after his father took sick until his death he was not of sound mind. (Tr. 108)

In the forepart of September, 1938, the witness was talking to his father, and was told by him that he had several properties. He said he had a home up on the hill, "You just as well have it", he told the witness. (Tr. 109)

About a week or so after he was at his father's home, and the witness was asked by his father to "take him home". They couldn't make him believe he was in his own home. (Tr. 110)

About a year and a half before John Gordon, Sr. died, his only sister in Ogden had died and willed him "one dollar". He broke down and cried. He said "I would hate to think I had a child I would treat that way." (Tr. 110)

The witness was at his father's home the day the will was executed. He saw him five minutes after the will was executed. He didn't know who the witness was. (Tr. 111)

The first time the witness knew his father was making a will was when he arrived and Mr. Booth was in the house,

and Curtis (one of the proponents) came out and said the witness couldn't go in because his father was making a will. (Tr. 115)

The witness visited his father almost every night from the middle of August. (Tr. 115) From the first of September he didn't know the witness. (Tr. 116)

His father never gave him anything during his lifetime. (Tr. 126)

John Gordon, the deceased, couldn't write except his own name. He could read the newspapers a little. (Tr. 127)

Robert R. Shoemaker

Sixty-eight years old. Had been next door neighbor to John Gordon for 16 years. Saw him several times during his sickness. He was in bad shape. About two weeks before he died didn't know the witness at all. Didn't seem to recognize anyone. At anytime during his sickness didn't seem to be just right. (Tr. 130)

For a couple of weeks after his illness he may have been of sound mind. After the first two weeks of his illness he was not of sound mind in the opinion of the witness. (Tr. 130)

The foregoing testimony all appears in the record as a part of the contestants' case in chief and prior to the proponents' motion for non-suit. (Tr. 136) It is such evidence which the proponents claim did not raise an issue of insanity to go to the jury. The contestant's also produced three other witnesses on rebuttal, and also recalled

Mrs. Olsen and John Gordon, Jr. the testimony of which will be later referred to.

PROPOSERS' EVIDENCE

The proposers produced thirteen witnesses, two of which were the witnesses to the will and eight of which were proposers or relatives. The testimony of most of these witnesses was generally to the effect that John Gordon was of sound mind right up to the time of his death. Thus there was a sharp conflict in the testimony, and the jury obviously believed the testimony adduced by the contestants.

We will not attempt to set out the evidence of the individual witnesses of proposers, in view of the fact that the issue here is simply whether there was substantial evidence to the contrary, and in support of the verdict of the jury. However, a reading of the testimony of these witnesses itself reveals inherent weaknesses.

Curtis Gordon, was a son named as a devisee and the executor of the pretended will. He claimed that Mr. Gordon was perfectly all right on August 21, and that two weeks after he found on visiting him that he had probably taken "a little cold" — "wasn't really sick." (Tr. 136) On the date the will was made he claimed he sent for the attorney at the request of Mr. Gordon. (Tr. 138) Although did not claim that his father had anything to do with selecting the witnesses. (Tr. 138-139). Curtis Gordon got the witnesses and transported Mr. Booth back and forth in connection with the drafting of the will. (Tr. 139) He

claimed Mr. Gordon "was in as sound mind as he ever was in his life." (Tr. 139) He also claimed that practically up to the time of his death, Mr. Gordon's mind was clear and he denied that he knew anything about the various incidents related by the witnesses preceding him. (Tr. 146)

Curtis Gordon claimed that he knew nothing about the contents of the will or who were beneficiaries or that he was named executor until the day of the hearing of his petition for letters testamentary when the will was read to the family in Attorney Booth's office. (Tr. 150) He claimed and reiterated that up until that time he didn't know anything about what the will provided and said that when Mr. Booth read the will to the family. (Tr. 151-153)

"Q. And you didn't know that the entire property had been left to you four children and the rest left with a dollar"?

A. No, sir.

Q. The first time you knew anything about that was when the will was read after a petition was made to probate the estate?

A. When that will was read in Judge Booth's office, I was just as much surprised as they were.

Q. That was after the hearing in this court?

A. Yes, sir. My brother John contested the signature of his father there that day — wanted to see it; said it didn't look like his.

Q. Well had the signature been seen by you then prior to its being read.

A. I had seen lots of his signatures.

Q. I mean this signature on the will.

A. No. (Tr. 153-154)

Yet he finally admitted that more than ten days before he had repeatedly claimed he first learned of the contents of the will, he signed the verified petition for probate. (Tr. 153-157)

A reading of his entire testimony is necessary to fully disclose the complete breakdown of the testimony and the memory of the witness, but a few more extracts are given as examples.

Q. You hadn't even seen the will prior to that time (the day of the court hearing)?

A. No, sir.

Q. You knew some of the beneficiaries, didn't you?

A. I didn't know anything about it, I am sure.

Q. You swore here under oath at the time ten days prior to the hearing to which you refer that you were named as executor in the last will and testament and what the provision was of the will with respect to serving without bond, and other details with regard to the will, didn't you?

A. I never swore to that.

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